097

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE OUT 7 1993

CLERK,	SUPREME	COUR
D.		

Chief Deputy Clerk

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Supreme Court Case No. 80,764

v.

The Florida Bar Case No. 91-50,494(15B)

MALCOLM ANDERSON,

Respondent.

# INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

LUAIN T. HENSEL #822868
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
5900 N. Andrews Ave., Suite 835
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33309
(305) 772-2245

JOHN T. BERRY #217395 Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. #123390 Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In order to ensure a clear record, the following terms of reference will be utilized throughout this brief: The Florida Bar, the appellant, will be referred to as "the bar". Malcolm Anderson, the appellee, will be referred to by his full name, as "respondent", or as "Anderson". References to the final hearing transcript will be made by utilizing the symbol "T" followed by the appropriate transcript page number. Exhibits introduced into evidence by The Florida Bar will be referenced as "Bar Exhibit \_\_\_\_\_\_"; exhibits introduced into evidence by the respondent will be referenced as "Respondent Exhibit \_\_\_\_\_\_". References to the report of referee will be made by utilizing the symbol "RR".

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Florida Bar filed its Complaint and Request for Admissions on November 12, 1992. Respondent served a response to the Request for Admissions on December 21, 1992. On November 23, 1992, the Honorable Stewart R. Hershey, Circuit Court Judge in and for the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, Martin County, Florida, was appointed as referee to conduct disciplinary proceedings. On January 6, 1993, this Court entered an Order of Termination of the appointment of the Honorable Stewart R. Hershey as referee predicated upon his determination to recuse himself from hearing the matter. On January 6, 1993, the Honorable Gene Fischer, Senior Judge in Broward County was assigned as referee to conduct the proceedings.

Pursuant to timely notice, Judge Fischer conducted the final hearing in this matter beginning on May 3, 1993 and daily thereafter through May 7, 1993. During the course of the final hearing, the bar presented the testimony of five (5) witnesses and entered sixteen (16) exhibits into evidence; respondent presented the testimony of eight (8) witnesses and entered twenty-three (23) exhibits into evidence. Following closing arguments, the referee refused to accept or consider the bar's tendered memorandum of law regarding appropriate discipline (T 1033-1035) but did request and accept case law from respondent's counsel (T 1019).

On May 28, 1993, the referee served his report of referee in which he found the respondent guilty of three (3) counts of drafting testamentary documents in which he included himself or his family members as beneficiaries

of substantial gifts. (RR 1-2). The referee recommended a public reprimand and probation for six months to one year but specified no terms of probation other than completion of eight hours of continuing legal education, including at least three hours of will and trusts, writing or drafting; three hours of estate planning; and two hours of ethics. Because the transcript of the final hearing was not completed at the time the referee served his report, it was forwarded to the Court by bar counsel on June 3, 1993. Shortly after the receipt of the referee's report, the parties discovered a typographical error which created an ambiguity therein. By letter dated June 7, 1993, Judge Fischer sent the Court a corrected page four and requested that it be substituted for the initial page four.

The report of referee was presented to the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar for consideration at its July, 1993 meeting. Bar counsel was thereafter directed to petition for review and to seek a 91-day suspension and payment of costs as appropriate discipline. The bar's Petition for Review was served on August 2, 1993. The bar's Motion for Enlargement of Time to File Initial Brief was filed August 23, 1993, and the bar was given until October 4, 1993 to serve its initial brief.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondent undertook representation of Mary Sisler ("Sisler") in October, 1988. (Respondent's Response to Request for Admissions #2). At the time respondent undertook the representation of Sisler, she was in her mid-eighties. (T 63). On October 10, 1988, Sisler executed a Last Will and Testament which was drafted and notarized by respondent. (Respondent's Response to Request for Admissions 3; Bar Exhibit 8). On July 31, 1990, Sisler executed a First Codicil to her Last Will and Testament which had been drafted and notarized by respondent (Respondent's Response to Request for Admissions 4; Bar Exhibit 9). On October 7, 1988, Sisler created an inter vivos trust known as the "Trust Agreement of Mary Sisler" ("Trust") which was drafted and notarized by respondent and which named Sisler as trustee with successor trustees to distribute assets at her death to certain named beneficiaries. (Respondent's Response to Request for Admissions 5; Bar Exhibit 1). Sisler's will and the codicil thereto provided that the entire contents of Mary Sisler's probate estate were to "pour over" into the Trust. (Respondent's Response to Request for Admissions 6; Bar Exhibits 8 and 9).

On March 31, 1989 Sisler executed a first amendment to the Trust ("First Amendment") which was drafted, witnessed and notarized by respondent. (Respondent's Response to Request for Admissions 7; Bar Exhibit 2). In the first amendment, respondent was appointed as successor trustee and named as a beneficiary to receive the sum of forty thousand dollars (\$40,000) "to be his absolutely should he survive the settlor". (Bar Exhibit 2).

On August 8, 1989 Sisler executed a second amendment to the trust ("second amendment") which had been drafted by respondent (Respondent's Response to Request for Admissions 9; Bar Exhibit 3). On September 12, 1989, Sisler executed a third amendment to the trust ("third amendment") which was drafted, witnessed and notarized by respondent (Respondent's Response to Request for Admissions 10; Bar Exhibit 4). In the third amendment, respondent was named as a beneficiary to receive the sum of one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000) "to be his absolutely, should he survive the settlor". (Bar Exhibit 4). The third amendment also added Palm Beach Festival ("Festival") as a residuary beneficiary of the trust. (Bar Exhibit 4). Respondent drafted a proposed fourth amendment to the trust which was never executed. (Respondent's Response to Request for Admissions 12; Bar Exhibit 5).

On July 30, 1990 Sisler executed a Restatement of Trust Agreement ("restatement") which was drafted and notarized by respondent. (Respondent's Response to Request for Admissions 13; Bar Exhibit 6). In the restatement, respondent was named as a successor co-trustee, was named as a beneficiary to receive the sum of one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000) "to be used in his discretion, to establish a Mary Sisler Law Scholarship Fund at the University of Florida", and the Palm Beach Festival was deleted as a named beneficiary. (Bar Exhibit 6). On August 21, 1990 Sisler executed a First Amendment to the Restatement ("final amendment") which respondent drafted, witnessed and notarized (Respondent's Response to Request for Admissions 14; Bar Exhibit 7). In the final amendment, respondent or his wife Nancy, or the survivor of either of them, was named as a beneficiary to receive the sum of one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000) "to be theirs

absolutely, per stirpes" in addition to one-half of the entire residuary "to be theirs absolutely, per stirpes." (Bar Exhibit 7). Neither respondent nor his wife was related to Sisler by blood or marriage. (Respondent's Response to Request for Admissions 17). Mary Sisler died on September 18, 1990. (Respondent's Response to Request for Admissions 16).

On September 28, 1990, Ameritrust, one of the co-trustees, filed a lawsuit (T 163). The suit filed by Ameritrust was a declaratory judgment action to ask for court determination of beneficiaries predicated upon the numerous documents and the ambiguity therein, as well as issues relating to Sisler's capacity, potential undue influence, and the fact that Anderson was a beneficiary. In addition, Ameritrust requested injunctive relief to prevent any trustees and the personal representative from distributing assets prior to a judicial determination of appropriate beneficiaries (T 345-346). Following a hearing on October 4, 1990, of Ameritrust's request for an emergency temporary injunction to enjoin the distribution of assets and the request for attorney's fees and costs associated therewith, the requests were denied by order dated November 13, 1990. (Bar Exhibit 13). On October 4, 1990, the day of the hearing on the request for injunctive relief, respondent and his wife executed and filed both a disclaimer (Respondent Exhibit 22) and an assignment of trust bequests (Respondent Exhibit 23).

On May 3, 1991 the parties to the litigation entered into an amended settlement agreement, (Respondent Exhibit 5) which was approved by the court in an order dated May 6, 1991 (Respondent Exhibit 6).

Throughout the course of the bar proceedings, respondent claimed he never intended to benefit personally from the bequests. With regard to Count I, respondent was the named beneficiary of the sum of \$40,000 in the

First Amendment. (Bar Exhibit 2). With respect to that bequest, respondent claimed he did not intend to accept those funds as a gift (Respondent's Response to Request for Admissions 18) but admitted Sisler intended for him to receive those funds (T 59). Respondent further claimed the document was destroyed shortly after execution (Respondent's Response to Request for Admissions 18; T 62) and claimed that reference to that document in three subsequent documents (Bar Exhibits 3, 4 & 5) should not have been made. (T 64-65; T 68; T 75).

With regard to Count II in which respondent was charged with being the named beneficiary of the sum of \$100,000 "to be his absolutely, should he survive the settlor" in the Third Amendment (Bar Exhibit 4), respondent claimed the \$100,000 was to go to the Palm Beach Festival (T 69-70). He further claimed the bequest named him rather than the Festival because the Festival was deeply in debt and Sisler did not want the funds utilized to pay the Festival's creditors (T 70-72). Respondent's explanation for the fact that the Festival was a named beneficiary in the residuary clause was that Sisler was not concerned about the residuary. (T 72-74).

As to Count IV of the bar's complaint, in which respondent was charged with naming himself and his wife or the survivor of either of them in the final amendment (Bar Exhibit 7) as being the beneficiaries of the sum of \$100,000 "to be theirs absolutely, per stirpes" in addition to one-half of the entire residuary "to be theirs absolutely, per stirpes", respondent claimed he never intended to benefit personally and that the monies were to be used for the benefit of the Festival (Respondent's Response to Request for Admissions 24-25). Notwithstanding the pristine language of the document (Bar Exhibit 7), the fact that only respondent, his wife, and one of their four

children was aware of the alleged trust, and the fact that respondent had not executed any document directing his wife and/or children to use the funds for the benefit of the Festival in the event of his death, respondent testified the Festival would have received the funds (T 93-99; T 628-632).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The referee's finding that the respondent was attempting to shield the \$40,000 bequest to him in the first amendment from the reach of any creditors of an intended beneficiary in clearly erroneous. Not only is the finding unsupported by any evidence, it is directly contradicted by respondent's testimony at final hearing.

The referee's finding that no real injury occurred as a result of respondent's "drafting errors" is erroneous for two significant reasons. First, a substantial sum of money was expended from Sisler's assets to litigate the issues and ambiguities created by respondent's "drafting errors", thereby diminishing the distribution to the ultimate beneficiaries.

Second, and more important, Sisler's testamentary scheme was thwarted by respondent's "drafting errors". The record is replete with references to Sisler's disdain for her sons, one of whom had committed suicide, and neither of whom was ever named as a beneficiary in any of the series of documents drafted by respondent over a period of almost two years. The surviving son received \$45,746.00 as a direct result of respondent's "drafting errors". In addition, but for the litigation and the resulting settlement, Olive "Olie" Thompson, Sisler's treasured companion, whom Mrs. Sisler wanted to provide for so that Ollie would never have to work again, would have received nothing. Although the first document (Bar Exhibit 1), executed on October 7, 1988, provided a monthly income to Olive and Norris Thompson for their lifetimes, by the time of the first amendment (Bar Exhibit 2) executed on March 31, 1989 (a mere six months later) Olive Thompson was deleted as a

beneficiary and never again named in any subsequent document. Instead, respondent became a named beneficiary.

The issue of appropriate discipline presents an issue of first impression, as there are no reported cases imposing discipline for violation of Rule 4-1.8(c) since the enactment of that rule on January 1, 1987. The lack of cases seems to indicate that few if any lawyers have been so bold. Respondent did not violate Rules 3-4.2, 4-1.2(e) and 4-1.8(c) in only one document; he repeatedly violated it in a series of documents over an extended period of time. Notwithstanding the referee's finding that respondent did not intend to benefit personally, it is significant that respondent did not disclaim or assign his interest to the Festival until after demanding immediate distribution of trust assets and the documents he had drafted were challenged by initiation of litigation. Accordingly, a public reprimand and completion of eight hours of continuing legal education is patently insufficient predicated upon the repetitive nature of respondent's conduct. Should this Court approve the referee's recommended discipline, it will send a message to Florida's lawyers and carve out an exception to the narrowly drafted rule which will lend itself to boundless mischief by unethical lawyers who are able to contrive an opportunity to take advantage of the trust and confidence reposed in them by their clients. This Court must put lawyers on notice that it does not view the violation of Rule 4-1.8(c) as an insignificant infraction. The bar respectfully submits that the minimum discipline which should be imposed is a 91-day suspension and payment of all costs incurred by the bar.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE EVIDENCE IS CONTRARY TO THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS WITH REGARD TO COUNT ONE OF THE BAR'S COMPLAINT

As to Count I of the bar's complaint, which charged respondent with being a named beneficiary in the first amendment to the trust to receive forty thousand dollars (\$40,000) "to be his absolutely should he survive the settlor", the referee found respondent guilty of violating Rules 3-4.2, 4-1.2(e) and 4-1.8(c) and found that "The evidence supports the respondent's explanation: that being, that he had no intent to receive any personal benefit, but rather, that he was attempting to shield a gift of money from the reach of any creditors of an intended beneficiary." (RR 1).

The record is not only devoid of evidence to support the referee's finding, the finding is contradicted by respondent's testimony. Respondent admitted that Sisler intended for him to receive the \$40,000 bequest, that he knew it was wrong, and that the document was destroyed the day it was executed.

- Q. All right. Now, there's also a bequest in here to Malcolm Anderson in the amount of \$40,000, also to be his absolutely should he survive the settlor; is that correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Did she intend for you to have that \$40,000 or was there an intent that was not expressed?
- A. No, that was her intention at that time.
- Q. That you have the \$40,000 ---
- A. That's correct.
- Q. ---outright?
- A. Outright.

- Q. It was not intended for anybody else?
- A. No.
- Q. She intended to benefit Malcolm Anderson?
- A. Yes.

(T 59-60)

Q. At the time you drafted this First Amendment to the Trust Agreement, Mr. Anderson, did you discuss with her that it really might be better if she had another lawyer draft this document?

A. What happened - and actually she drafted this - I mean, I drafted this document, took it over to Miss Sisler. She signed it. I brought it back to the office.

I called Miss Sisler and I said, "Miss Sisler, this is an ethical violation. I cannot do this and I'm going to bring it back and we're going to make some other arrangements."

I brought it back still on the 31st of March. She tore this document up, this first amendment, in my presence and - because she realized when I told her that this was unethical and we couldn't do it, and then she put me on a retainer instead.

Because I said if you want to pay me \$40,000 or whatever, just put me on a retainer and in three years you would have paid me more than the \$40,000. And she agreed to do that and I was on the retainer thereafter and this document was destroyed.

- Q. On the same day it was executed?
- A. Same day it was drafted. And we thought we had got all the copies but apparently some copies were stolen or somehow got removed from the house. I tore up my file copy, I know that too.
- Q. But did you ever suggest to her that if she wanted to give you a gift, she should speak with another attorney and receive independent advice?
- A. I didn't really get into that with her at that time.

(T 61 - 63)

Respondent's testimony that the \$40,000 bequest to him was not included for any other purpose than to benefit Malcolm Anderson conclusively establishes the miscomprehension by the referee evidenced by his finding that "he [Anderson] was attempting to shield a gift of money from the reach of any creditors of an intended beneficiary."

# II. THE REFEREE ERRED IN FINDING THAT NO REAL INJURY OCCURRED AS A RESULT OF RESPONDENT'S "DRAFTING ERRORS"

As to Count One of the bar's complaint, in addition to the finding that respondent violated Rules 3-4.2, 4-1.2(e) and 4-1.8(c), the referee specifically found as follows:

It is the Referee's finding that the Respondent did not intend to receive any benefit by his drafting error. Further, no real benefit was received by the Respondent and no real injury followed. Potential injury to the legal system or the legal profession was reasonably foreseeable; however, later documents drafted by the Respondent invalidated the bequest to the Respondent, and no real injury occurred.

(RR 1-2)

As to Count Two of the bar's complaint, in addition to the finding that respondent violated Rules 3-4.2, 4-1.2(e) and 4-1.8(c), the referee specifically found as follows:

It is the referee's finding that the Respondent did not intend to receive any benefit by his drafting error. Further, no real benefit was received by the Respondent and no real injury followed. Potential injury to the legal system or the legal profession was reasonably foreseeable.

(RR 2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Count One of the complaint charged respondent with drafting, witnessing, and notarizing a testamentary document, the first amendment, in which he was named as a beneficiary to receive forty thousand dollars (\$40,000) "to be his absolutely should he survive the settlor".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Count Two of the complaint charged respondent with drafting, witnessing and notarizing a testamentary document, the third amendment, in which he was named as a beneficiary, to receive one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000) "to be his absolutely, should he survive the settlor".

As to Count Four of the bar's complaint, in addition to finding that respondent violated Rules 3-4.2, 4-1.2(e) and 4-1.8(c), the referee specifically found as follows:

It is the referee's finding that the Respondent did not intend to receive any benefit by his drafting error. Further, no real benefit was received by the Respondent and no real injury followed. Potential injury to the legal system or the legal profession was reasonably foreseeable.

(RR 2)

Even accepting as correct the referee's finding that respondent did not intend to benefit personally from the bequests to him and/or his family members in the series of documents he drafted, the referee's finding that no real injury resulted from respondent's repeated "drafting errors" is clearly erroneous.

Because of respondent's "drafting errors" in a series of documents, Ameritrust initiated litigation to determine who the appropriate beneficiaries were and to prevent the immediate distribution of trust assets requested by respondent. As a result of that litigation, a written settlement agreement was reached on May 3, 1991. (Respondent Exhibit 5). Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, Ameritrust's attorney's fees, costs and commissions were to be paid from trust assets. The fees ultimately paid to Ameritrust's attorneys totaled \$84,250.00, and the attorney representing Malcolm Anderson and his wife was paid \$10,569.00 in fees. (T 625). The total attorney's fees paid from trust assets as a result of Anderson's "drafting errors" was \$129,753.00,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Count four of the complaint charged respondent with drafting, witnessing and notarizing a testamentary document, the final amendment, in which respondent, his wife, or the survivor of the two of them, were the named beneficiaries to receive one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000) "to be theirs absolutely, per stirpes" as well as one half of the entire residuary trust "to be theirs absolutely, per stirpes".

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