047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 80,764

The Florida Bar Case  
No. 91-50,494(15B)

**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

DEC 1 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Chief Deputy Clerk

*12/14*

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant

vs.

MALCOLM ANDERSON,

Respondent

*per Mr. White to  
not request an  
amended Bef. &  
just mark through  
the part of Bef. bar  
wants stricken.*

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**LOUIS M. SILBER**  
400 Australian Ave. South, Suite 855  
West Palm Beach, FL 33401  
(407) 655-6640

and

**MARJORIE GADARIAN GRAHAM**  
Marjorie Gadarian Graham, P.A.  
Northbridge Centre, Suite 1704  
515 N. Flagler Drive  
West Palm Beach, FL 33401  
(407) 655-9146

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A referee's findings of fact and recommendations carry a presumption of correctness which should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the record. In this case the findings and recommendations are not clearly erroneous. The record supports them.

The recommended discipline is fair to the respondent and society and will sufficiently deter other attorneys from similar misconduct. This court should adopt that recommendation.



## ARGUMENT

### I

#### **WHETHER THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE REFEREE'S FACT FINDINGS ON COUNT I.**

The evidence supports the referee's fact findings on count I, with the exception of the finding that respondent was attempting to shield a gift of money from the reach of creditors of an intended beneficiary. This portion of the findings is incorrect. However, the error is harmless and does not warrant rejection of the referee's recommendation or discipline. As this court explained in The Florida Bar v. Poplack, 599 So.2d 116 (Fla. 1992), a referee's recommendation on discipline is afforded a presumption of correctness unless the recommendation is clearly erroneous and not supported by the record. As shown in the argument on point III, the recommendation is appropriate and should be accepted.

Anderson billed Mrs. Sisler for the legal work pertaining to dissolution of the guardianship. However, he did not charge her for the numerous hours he spent responding to her telephone calls and constant demands. Mrs. Sisler was grateful to him for his help and wanted to make a gift to him of \$40,000 because he had not charged her. She asked him to draft an amendment to her trust agreement to provide for a gift of \$40,000 to him upon her death. (T.293) Anderson followed her instructions and drafted the document which was subsequently executed by Sisler. (T.294) Upon reflection Anderson realized that he could not accept a testamentary gift from Mrs. Sisler and he so advised her. (T.294) She tore up the original document on the same day that it was executed.

Prior to trial and at trial, Anderson admitted that his conduct was improper. (T.294) The evidence was uncontradicted that the document was immediately destroyed by the client and that Anderson never received any bequest from the client and that he never intended to accept monies as a gift from Sisler.

The gist of the referee's findings on count I is that Anderson did not intend to receive any benefit from his drafting error; that he readily admitted his error; that later documents invalidated the bequest to him; that no benefit was received by him and that no real injury occurred. All of these findings are supported by the record. The record shows that not only did the respondent admit his error to the referee, but the probate judge was also aware of the error. At the hearing on the motion to remove Anderson as trustee, all of the trust documents were shown to Judge Rudnick and discussed. (T.893-896) According to Robert Sorgini, that hearing was "a real mud slinging contest," but Judge Rudnick denied the motion to remove Anderson as a trustee after he saw all of the documents and heard all of the evidence. In addition, all ten of the lawyers representing the parties universally agreed that Anderson should remain as personal representative and trustee. (T.893-896) Jeff Tomberg, the attorney for the Festival, testified that "I was convinced that there was no intent for him to benefit, and I truly believe that the other attorneys who represented the real parties in interest had the same belief . . . ." (T.913)

## II

### WHETHER THE FINDING THAT NO REAL INJURY OCCURRED IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

The referee recommended that the respondent be found guilty of counts I, II and IV and that he be found not guilty on counts III, V and VI. The Florida Bar does not contest the findings on counts III, V and VI. It challenges the finding that no real injury occurred as a result of the violations of counts III, V and VI.

As shown in the argument on point I there was no injury as a result of the conduct charged in count I. The respondent immediately advised the client of his error. The respondent did not receive any benefit. There was no injury to the client because the document was immediately destroyed.

As to counts II and IV, the referee's conclusion that no real injury resulted from the respondent's actions is supported by the record. The thrust of the Bar's argument on this point is that: 1) attorney's fees of \$129,753 resulted from Anderson's conduct; 2) Sisler's testamentary scheme was thwarted. Neither of these contentions has merit. This record demonstrates that the attorney's fees resulted because of the actions of AmeriTrust and its attorney, Neil Chrystal. Furthermore, even if Sisler's testamentary scheme were indeed frustrated, that resulted from the actions of Chrystal and AmeriTrust.

Attorney Chrystal was employed by AmeriTrust to determine the beneficiaries under the Sisler trust. (T.427) Chrystal met with Anderson just two days following Sisler's death. (T.160) At that meeting Chrystal interrogated Anderson at length about the \$100,000 gift to him and was advised that the money was not intended for him, but for the Palm Beach

Festival. (T.161) Despite that information, not less than a week later Chrystal, on behalf of AmeriTrust, filed a lawsuit. (R.E.18) He named as a defendant everyone who had ever been a beneficiary under any of the trust agreements. In addition, he also named David Sisler Hayes as a defendant. He was never a beneficiary under any of the documents.

Chrystal used the lawsuit as an excuse to run up exorbitant legal fees. His attorney's fees became a "very hot topic." (T.897) The potential beneficiaries' attorneys told him both orally and in writing that AmeriTrust was just a disinterested stakeholder and that they did not want him doing any more work, attending hearings and running up attorney's fees. (T.897-898) Chrystal just ignored them. (T.898) Obviously his actions also increased the beneficiaries' attorney's fees. It was Chrystal's acts and not those of Anderson which caused the attorney's fees.

As for possible frustration of Sisler's testamentary scheme, that also resulted because of the actions of Chrystal and AmeriTrust. There was absolutely no reason for David Sisler Hayes to have been named as a defendant in the declaratory decree action. He was not named as a beneficiary under any of the trust documents or wills. The only reason he got anything is because Chrystal, without cause, brought him into the litigation.

*Stricken*

[REDACTED]

*Stricken*

[REDACTED]

*See order dated  
1-5-94*

### III

#### WHETHER THE DISCIPLINE RECOMMENDED BY THE REFEREE IS APPROPRIATE.

Most of the argument and discussion presented by The Florida Bar on this point is irrelevant. The Florida Bar bore the burden of proving its charges by clear and convincing evidence. The Florida Bar v. Wilson, 599 So.2d 100 (Fla. 1992) Initially the Bar sought disbarment. The referee rejected that suggestion and instead recommended a public reprimand, probation and continuing legal education. The proposed discipline is fair to the respondent and acts to protect the public. The punishment is sufficient to punish the breach of ethics. It will encourage reformation and rehabilitation. In addition, the discipline is severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations.

The referee's recommendation on discipline is afforded a presumption of correctness. The Florida Bar v. Poplack, *supra*. The Bar has failed to overcome that presumption and has not demonstrated that the recommendation is clearly erroneous or not supported by the evidence. The discipline which the Bar now seeks, a ninety-one day suspension, would be disproportionate to the referee's findings. This case does not involve dishonesty, undue influence, fraud or overreaching on the part of Anderson. This is a case of admitted negligence in drafting documents. The Bar never charged Anderson with incompetence. The discipline recommended by the referee is appropriate and will serve the goals of bar discipline proceedings. The referee's recommendation should be adopted by this Court.

This case differs factually from all of the cases cited by the Bar which deal with attorneys drafting wills whereby they receive bequests from clients. In this case, unlike the cited cases, with the exception of the first amendment to trust agreement, Anderson was never to receive a bequest. All of the bequests were to be given by him to the Palm Beach Festival. Anderson simply drafted the documents improperly and neglected to specify that he was taking "as trustee."

In contrast, in State v. Horan, 123 N.W.2d 488 (Wis.1963), the attorney drafted a will for his client-friend under which he was given a substantial bequest. The conduct there was far more egregious than the conduct in this case. The court there stated that a reprimand and payment of costs was sufficient discipline.

Likewise in State v. Collentine, 159 N.W.2d 50 (Wis. 1968), the attorney drafted a will for a client which bequeathed the potential residue of an estate to him. There, as here, the court found no undue influence, overreaching, coercion or fraud. The court specifically declined to impose discipline and simply admonished the defendant. In the case of In Re Krotenberg, 527 P.2d 510 (Ariz. 1974), unlike this case, the intent was to make a bequest to the lawyer and his family.

Committee on Professional Ethics v. Behnke, 276 N.W.2d 838 (Iowa 1979) is factually distinguishable from this case, too. There, unlike this case, the bequest was to the lawyer himself. In addition, there was evidence which showed that the wills prepared by the lawyer were contrary to the client's wishes.

Committee on Professional Ethics v. Randall, 285 N.W.2d 161 (Iowa 1974) involved much more than drafting a will which made the lawyer a beneficiary. That case also involved a "flagrant and inexcusable" conflict of

interest. The case also involved lies and other dishonest conduct on the part of the lawyer. This case does not.

The Florida cases which the Bar cites do not support imposition of greater discipline in this case. In The Florida Bar v. Novak, 313 So.2d 727 (Fla. 1974), the lawyer named himself as a beneficiary in the client's will. In that case, unlike this one, the gift was intended for the lawyer. This court deemed a public reprimand to be the appropriate discipline. Likewise, in The Florida Bar v. Miller, 555 So.2d 854 (Fla. 1990) the lawyer drafted a will under which he was a contingent beneficiary and whereunder he inherited \$200,000. This court held that a public reprimand was the appropriate sanction.

The Florida Bar v. Rule, 601 So.2d 1179 (Fla. 1992) involved far more egregious conduct than this case. That case, unlike this one, involved comingling of trust account funds, using funds for purposes other than those for which the funds were entrusted and violation of trust accounting procedures.

The Bar's reliance on The Florida Bar v. Rhinehardt, Case No. 78,601, is misplaced. There is no reported, written opinion in that case. Thus the case has no precedential value.

Review of the factors to be considered in imposing discipline shows that a public reprimand, probation and continuing legal education are the appropriate sanctions in this case. Anderson did not breach any fiduciary duty to his client. He admitted that he drafted these documents improperly and that it should have been specified that he was taking "as trustee." The referee made a specific fact finding, which is supported by the evidence, that the respondent did not intend to benefit personally from these bequests. The Bar apparently concedes that this fact finding is supported



by the evidence. As shown in the argument on point II, no real injury resulted from Anderson's actions. Any monetary injury was occasioned by the conduct of AmeriTrust and its lawyer. The fact that potential injury was foreseeable does not warrant a ninety-one day suspension under the facts of this case.

In closing, the lawyers argued aggravating and mitigating factors to be considered in imposing sanctions. (T.948-1041) There was evidence of numerous mitigating factors. The respondent has no prior disciplinary record. There was no evidence of a dishonest or selfish motive on the part of Anderson. Indeed, the evidence was to the contrary and showed that he was trying to carry out Sisler's wishes. As a practical matter, if Anderson had intended to benefit personally, he would not have immediately told the Palm Beach Festival about the gift. This was done over a year before Mrs. Sisler died.

There was no pattern of misconduct or multiple offenses. The documents demonstrate that Mrs. Sisler repeatedly changed her trust beneficiaries. The record demonstrates that Anderson cooperated fully with the Bar in these proceedings. He was not deceptive. He fully acknowledged his mistakes and that the documents were improperly drawn. There was no evidence which indicated Mrs. Sisler was vulnerable. Indeed, the record shows she was a demanding woman who expected everyone to be at her beck and call.

The record is replete with evidence which shows that Malcolm Anderson is well regarded as an honest man. (T.514, 727, 745, 749, 806, 847, 936-937) Anderson took a "short-cut" which was described by one witness as "stupid." (T.748-749) But, he did not act dishonestly or to

benefit himself. (T.748-749) He admitted his mistake and was truly remorseful about his drafting mistakes.

This case did not involve dishonesty, fraud, undue influence or overreaching by a lawyer. If anything, it involved a question of competency. Standard 4.5 of the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions discusses the sanctions to be imposed in cases involving lack of competence. Suspension is appropriate only when a lawyer engages in an area of practice in which the lawyer knowingly lacks competence and causes injury or potential injury to a client. Public reprimand is appropriate when a lawyer demonstrates failure to understand relevant legal doctrines or procedures and causes injury or potential injury. It is also appropriate when a lawyer is negligent in determining whether he is competent to handle a legal matter and causes injury or potential injury.

The Bar did not charge Anderson with lack of competency. Had it done so and put him on notice that was an issue, the respondent could have and would have presented evidence regarding his overall competency in the field of wills and trusts. The record before this court does not demonstrate that Anderson knowingly lacked competence in these areas of practice. Absent such evidence a suspension is not warranted.

CONCLUSION

The Bar has failed to overcome the presumption of correctness of the referee's findings of fact and recommendations. Accordingly, his findings and recommendations should be upheld. The Florida Bar v. Carswell, 18 Fla.L.Weekly S507 (Fla. Sept. 23, 1993).